~3\

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 76,083

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, 4TH DISTRICT - NO. 86-6996

MICHAEL LIPOF,

Petitioner,

v.

FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHELE K. FEINZIG of TRIPP, SCOTT, CONKLIN & SMITH Attorneys for Petitioner 110 Southeast Sixth Street Twenty Eighth Floor Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 Telephone: (305)525-7500

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, MICHAEL LIPOF ("LIPOF"), suffered personal injuries in an automobile accident on September 2, 1983, in which he was struck by an underinsured vehicle while driving his personal automobile. (R.1-2; and R.62). At the time, LIPOF was employed by Respondent, FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY ("FP&L"), as a meter reader and bill deliverer, having been hired in 1981. See, Lipof v. Florida Power & Light Company, 15 F.L.W. 1514 (Fla. 4th DCA April 25, 1990). (See Petitioner's Appendix, Exhibit 1). At the time of the accident, FP&L provided LIPOF's compliance with automobile insurance requirements under Florida Statutes through an "Employee Vehicle Agreement". (R.2, Exhibit A of the Complaint; R.57; R.62; and Petitioner's Appendix, Exhibit 2). The Employee Vehicle Agreement, which was drafted by FP&L, covered LIPOF's personal vehicle and, in particular, provided LIPOF:

- a. compliance with the Florida Financial Responsibility
 Law and the Florida Automobile Reparations Reform Act;
- b. excess indemnity protection with a combined bodily injury and property damage limit of \$500,000.00 each occurrence for the benefit of FP&L and LIPOF, with each bearing one half (1/2) the actual cost of such protection;
 - c. fire, theft and comprehensive protection; and
- d. full collision or upset protection with a \$50.00 deductible, which applied whether LIPOF's vehicle was being

utilized for FP&L business or for LIPOF's personal use. (R.1-2, Exhibit A of the Complaint; R.57; and Petitioner's Appendix, Exhibit 2).

The Employee Vehicle Agreement further provided that uninsured motorist (U.M.) coverage was rejected. (R.1-2, Exhibit A of the Complaint; and Petitioner's Appendix, Exhibit 2). No opportunity was given to LIPOF to select U.M. coverage, nor was such coverage offered or available to LIPOF. (R.1-2, Exhibit A of the Complaint; R.58; and Petitioner's Appendix, Exhibit 2). As a result of the 1983 accident, LIPOF suffered serious permanent injuries. (R.1-2).

LIPOF subsequently filed suit against FP&L seeking a declaration from the Court that LIPOF was entitled to U.M. benefits pursuant to the Employee Vehicle Agreement. Essentially, LIPOF argued that he was entitled to U.M. benefits under the Agreement, as FP&L undertook to provide LIPOF with liability coverage, as detailed above, without providing him the option of accepting U.M. coverage in an amount equal to his liability coverage or making a knowing rejection thereof. Further, LIPOF was not notified on an annual basis of his options regarding U.M. coverage. (R.1-2).

FP&L moved for summary judgment against LIPOF on the basis that as a matter of law, it owed no duty to LIPOF to offer him U.M. coverage under the Employee Vehicle Agreement. (R.22-23). FP&L therein argued that it was LIPOF's employer and a self-insured utility and as such, had no duty to offer LIPOF U.M. coverage under \$627.727, Florida Statutes (1983). (R.23-24).

The trial court granted FP&L's motion for summary judgment and LIPOF then appealed the decision of the trial court to the Florida Fourth District Court of Appeal. (R.55; and R.66). The Fourth District Court of Appeal thereafter affirmed the entry of summary judgment by the trial court in favor of FP&L and filed its original opinion on March 14, 1990. <u>Lipof</u>, <u>supra</u> p.1. The Fourth District Court of Appeal, however, upon Petitioner's Motion for Rehearing or Certification, certified the following question to the Supreme Court of Florida:

WHETHER AN EMPLOYER IS OBLIGATED TO PROVIDE AN EMPLOYEE WITH THE OPPORTUNITY TO ACCEPT OR REJECT UNINSURED MOTORIST INSURANCE, WHERE THE EMPLOYER PROVIDES THE EMPLOYEE, THROUGH HIS **EMPLOYMENT** CONTRACT, **INSURANCE** WITH COMPLIANCE WITH THE **FLORIDA** FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY LAW AND THE FLORIDA AUTOMOBILE REPARATIONS REFORM ACT AND WITH OTHER INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE COVERAGES THE EMPLOYEE'S PERSONAL VEHICLE WHICH IS USED BY THE EMPLOYEE IN THE EMPLOYER'S BUSINESS.

<u>Id</u>. On May 22, 1990, LIPOF filed his notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida to review the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

ISSUE PRESENTED

WHETHER AN EMPLOYER IS OBLIGATED TO PROVIDE AN EMPLOYEE WITH THE OPPORTUNITY TO ACCEPT OR REJECT UNINSURED MOTORIST INSURANCE, WHERE THE EMPLOYER PROVIDES THE EMPLOYEE, THROUGH HIS **EMPLOYMENT** CONTRACT, WITH INSURANCE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE FLORIDA FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY LAW AND THE FLORIDA AUTOMOBILE REPARATIONS REFORM ACT AND WITH OTHER INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE COVERAGES ON THE EMPLOYEE'S PERSONAL VEHICLE WHICH IS USED BY THE EMPLOYEE IN THE EMPLOYER'S BUSINESS.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District Court of Appeal erred in affirming the entry of summary judgment below in favor of FP&L. The decision of the Fourth District rested upon its finding that FP&L was a self-insurer and as such, had no obligation to offer LIPOF U.M. coverage on his vehicle, which was used by LIPOF in the scope of his employment with FP&L. In the case at bar, however, FP&L was not a true self-insurer with respect to LIPOF, its employee, as FP&L provided coverage for LIPOF on his personally owned vehicle.

Specifically, FP&L became an "insurer" as the same is defined by Florida law as to LIPOF when it agreed, via its Employee Vehicle Agreement, to arrange for LIPOF's compliance with both the Florida Financial Responsibility Law and the Florida Automobile Reparations Reform Act and to secure excess indemnity protection and other coverage, including fire, theft, full collision and comprehensive, for LIPOF on his personal vehicle. Such an arrangement does not constitute "self-insurance," as the coverage inured to the benefit of LIPOF regardless of whether his vehicle was being used for business or personal purposes. Thus, the Employee Vehicle Agreement, though not labeled an insurance policy, functioned in that capacity for LIPOF. Accordingly, FP&L was LIPOF's insurer and was obligated to provide him the option of selecting uninsured motorist benefits under the Florida uninsured motorist statute. It is undisputed by FP&L that no such option was offered to LIPOF.

The cases cited and relied upon by both FP&L and the Fourth District Court of Appeal in support of FP&L's position all involve

employers or other self-insurers which had waived U.M. coverage on their own vehicles on behalf of permissive users. Not one of those cases involved a "self-insurer," such as FP&L, which attempted to waive U.M. coverage on a vehicle both owned and operated by the employee. Thus, LIPOF's case presents an issue of first impression to this Court.

Courts in Florida have for years reaffirmed the public policy behind the Florida uninsured motorist statute. This Honorable Court itself has recognized on several occasions that the U.M. statute was created to provide broad protection to the citizens of Florida against those who drive without insurance or adequate If LIPOF is denied the opportunity to select U.M. insurance. coverage from FP&L, the protection intended to be afforded by the U.M. statute will in effect be nonexistent. This Court should decide this case so that persons such as LIPOF, who use their vehicles for employment purposes and are "insured" by their employers, as LIPOF was by FP&L through its Employee Vehicle Agreement, can realize the benefits intended to be afforded by the Florida uninsured motorist statute.

ARGUMENT

<u>Issue</u>

WHETHER AN EMPLOYER IS OBLIGATED TO PROVIDE AN EMPLOYEE WITH THE OPPORTUNITY TO ACCEPT OR REJECT UNINSURED MOTORIST INSURANCE, WHERE THE EMPLOYER PROVIDES THE EMPLOYEE, THROUGH HIS **EMPLOYMENT** CONTRACT, WITH **INSURANCE** COMPLIANCE WITH THE FLORIDA FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY LAW AND THE FLORIDA AUTOMOBILE REPARATIONS REFORM ACT AND WITH OTHER INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE COVERAGES ON THE EMPLOYEE'S PERSONAL VEHICLE WHICH IS USED BY THE EMPLOYEE IN THE EMPLOYER'S BUSINESS.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal, by affirming the summary judgment entered by the trial court for FP&L, essentially found that self-insurance is not considered to be a "policy" of insurance and that self-insurers, therefore, are not "insurers" who must make available Uninsured Motorist (U.M.) coverage in accordance with \$627.727, Florida Statutes (1983). In arriving at the above conclusions of law, the Fourth District relied on several Florida cases which in essence hold that the owner of a vehicle who is self-insured is not required to offer uninsured motorist coverage and can waive such coverage as to permissive users of the owner's

¹ Citations herein will be made to the 1983 Florida Statutes (unless otherwise cited) as was done in the trial court and in the Fourth District Court of Appeal, despite the fact that the Employee Vehicle Agreement was entered into in 1981. As the issue posed by this case at the trial level was not whether a written rejection of U.M. coverage was required, but whether LIPOF's rejection was "knowing" and "informed" under the circumstances, the post-1981 amendment to Florida Statute §627.727 mandating a written rejection is not believed relevant to the issues herein. The requirements of Florida Statute §627.727, that a liability insurer provide U.M. coverage or obtain a knowing, informed rejection of coverage or election of lower limits than the bodily injury liability limits, remained the same in both the 1981 and 1983 versions of the statute.

vehicle. The Fourth District did recognize, though, that the issue of whether FP&L was obligated to offer U.M. coverage to LIPOF on his own personal vehicle has never before been decided in Florida. Further, neither LIPOF, FP&L, nor the Fourth District has located any cases outside of Florida dealing specifically with the factual scenario presented by this case. LIPOF's case against FP&L, therefore, is a case of first impression in Florida. believes that the rule announced by the Fourth District Court of Appeal will have a detrimental effect on the ability of employees in Florida who utilize their own personal vehicles in the scope of their employment to acquire uninsured motorist insurance. Hence, this case presents an issue of great public importance to the citizens of Florida and should be decided by this Honorable Court. LIPOF contends that the trial court and the Fourth District Court of Appeal, in affirming the trial court's entry of summary judgment for FP&L, erred in their interpretations of FP&L's legal obligation to offer U.M. coverage on LIPOF's personal vehicle.

A decision on the issue presented by this case hinges on the determination of whether FP&L is an "insurer" with responsibilities under the uninsured motorist statute with regard to LIPOF, in view of FP&L's Employee Vehicle Agreement with LIPOF. The uninsured motorist statute, \$627.727, Florida Statutes (1983), provides that U.M. coverage must be offered with, or as a supplement to, automobile liability insurance in Florida. The insured may reject such coverage, but such a rejection must be a knowing and informed one. See Lane v. Waste Management, 432 So.2d 70,73 (Fla. 4th DCA

1983). The statute has numerous requirements which must be complied with by automobile liability insurers, including a requirement that the named insured be informed annually of his coverage options. \$627.727(1), Florida Statutes (1983). In the case at bar, it is undisputed that U.M. coverage was never offered to LIPOF in conjunction with, or supplemental to, the liability coverage provided to LIPOF by virtue of the Employee Vehicle Agreement. (R.57-58).

The Florida Insurance Code broadly defines insurance as

"...a contract whereby one undertakes to indemnify another or pay or allow a specified amount or a determinable benefit upon determinable contingencies."

§624.02, Florida Statutes (1982). Similarly, an insurer is defined in the Insurance Code as:

"...every person engaged as indemnitor, surety, or contractor in the business of entering into contracts of insurance..."

\$624.03, Florida Statutes (1982). FP&L's Employee Vehicle Agreement, by its express terms, provided LIPOF with "excess indemnity protection with a combined bodily injury and property damage limit of \$500,000 each occurrence," as well as other coverage on LIPOF's vehicle, including fire, theft, comprehensive and full collision protection. (R.1-2, Exhibit A of the Complaint; and Petitioner's Appendix, Exhibit 2). It is clear that the "Employee Vehicle Agreement" is in fact a contract whereby FP&L undertook to indemnify LIPOF if he caused injuries to another motorist or property damage while driving his vehicle. FP&L, by providing this "Employee Vehicle Agreement" as part of its

employment arrangement with LIPOF, thereby became an "indemnitor," as LIPOF would look to FP&L to indemnify him in the event he caused injuries or damage to another while driving his vehicle. The Employee Vehicle Agreement, though titled differently, in reality operates as a "contract of insurance," through which FP&L provided insurance to LIPOF.

Similarly, LIPOF would look to FP&L to "indemnify" him if LIPOF's vehicle were damaged, either through fire, theft, or a collision, regardless of whether the damage occurred while LIPOF was on FP&L business or personal time. FP&L would use its status as a utility to avoid the substance of its arrangement with LIPOF. The Employee Vehicle Agreement need not be labeled a contract of insurance and FP&L need not be called an insurance company for the true substance of FP&L's status relative to LIPOF's to be discerned. This Court should not permit FP&L to hide behind its "public utility" status and therein frustrate the purpose and intent behind the Florida uninsured motorist statute.

FP&L relies heavily upon the definition of motor vehicle liability policy as contained in §324.021(8), Florida Statutes (1983), for its contention that the Employee Vehicle Agreement is not a liability policy. FP&L argues that because the Employee Vehicle Agreement is not "a policy of liability insurance...issued by an[y] insurance company authorized to do business in this

²"Indemnify" is defined generally as "[t]o restore the victim of a loss, in whole or in part, by payment, repair, or replacement...; to secure against loss or damage;... to make reimbursement to one of a loss already incurred by him." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 393, (Abridged 5th ed. 1983).

state," FP&L had no obligation under \$627.727 to offer LIPOF U.M. coverage. FP&L's analysis, however, misses one very important step. Specifically, the term "motor vehicle liability policy" defined in \$324.021(8) refers to one acceptable method of providing financial responsibility under Chapter 324, Florida Statutes, also known as the Florida Financial Responsibility Law. Under that law and in particular, \$324.031, Florida Statutes (1983), an owner or operator of a vehicle is permitted to prove his financial responsibility, defined in \$324.021(7), Florida Statutes (1983), as the "ability to respond in damages for liability on account of accidents arising out of the use of a motor vehicle," in one of four ways:

- by furnishing satisfactory evidence of holding a motor vehicle liability policy;
- 2) by posting a bond with the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles conditioned on paying the statutory liability requirements;
- 3) by furnishing a certificate of the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles showing the deposit of cash or securities; or
- 4) by furnishing a certificate of self-insurance issued by the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles.

FP&L's argument throughout this litigation and on appeal has been that FP&L provided LIPOF's compliance with the Florida Financial Responsibility Law, as given in the Employee Vehicle Agreement,

through a program of self-insurance, which is the fourth option available under \$324.031.

A close reading of §324.031, however, reveals the flaw in FP&L's argument. The option of being "self-insured" was not selected by LIPOF as his method of proving financial responsibility with respect to his vehicle. The above statute refers to the manner in which an owner or operator of a vehicle may prove his financial responsibility. LIPOF is the owner and operator of his vehicle and he did not elect to furnish a certificate of selfinsurance in order to prove his financial responsibility under §324.031. Rather, the manner in which LIPOF proved his financial accordance with the Florida responsibility in Responsibility Law was through the Employee Vehicle Agreement, which constituted LIPOF's evidence of holding a motor vehicle liability policy. LIPOF, therefore, elected to prove his financial responsibility through the first option under §324.031, and not through a program of self-insurance. While FP&L may be "selfinsured" with respect to covering any damages claimed by LIPOF or a third party against FP&L, LIPOF is not self-insured and would look to FP&L's Employee Vehicle Agreement for "insurance" on his vehicle. FP&L's "self-insurance" is no longer that when FP&L undertakes to extend coverage to persons other than itself, i.e. to LIPOF, on his personally owned vehicle.

An analysis of the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law (Florida Automobile Reparations Reform Act) further substantiates the flaw in FP&L's classification of itself as a self-insurer under no

obligation to offer U.M. coverage to LIPOF. The Florida No-Fault Law, cited at §§627.730 through 627.7405, Florida Statutes (1982), was enacted to require owners or registrants of all motor vehicles required to be licensed in the state of Florida to provide medical, surgical, funeral and disability insurance benefits through motor vehicle insurance securing such benefits for persons injured in §627.731, motor vehicle accidents, without regard to fault. Florida Statutes (1982). In a fashion similar to the Florida Financial Responsibility Law, the No-Fault Law affords every owner or registrant of a motor vehicle the opportunity to provide security through one of various means, including through an insurance policy or through a program of self-insurance. §627.733(3), Florida Statutes (1982). FP&L again argues that it provided LIPOF's compliance with the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law, as given in the Employee Vehicle Agreement, through a program of self-insurance.

LIPOF, however, as the owner and registrant of his automobile, was at all times the party obligated to provide security under the above-referenced statute. LIPOF did not provide his security under the No-Fault Act through a program of self-insurance. From LIPOF's perspective, given that he as the owner/registrant of his vehicle was obligated to provide such security under the No-Fault law, the Employee Vehicle Agreement constituted that security, and FP&L thereby "insured" LIPOF. Under both the Florida Financial Responsibility Law and the Florida No-Fault Law, the focus of the statutory liability insurance or security requirement is the owner

or <u>operator</u> of the vehicle. FP&L neither owned nor operated LIPOF's vehicle. The owner of the vehicle in the case at bar is LIPOF and LIPOF was not self-insured. LIPOF was insured by another entity, FP&L, and FP&L can therein not escape the conclusion that it was agreeing to "indemnify" another.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal and FP&L relied on the case of Government Employees Insurance Company v. Wilder, 546 So.2d 12 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) for the proposition that an individual self-insurer is not for most purposes an "insurer" under the Florida Insurance Code who would be obligated to offer uninsured motorist coverage. LIPOF respectfully submits that Government Employee's Insurance Company is of limited precedential value, as that case involved the layering of insurance policies and did not consider the issue currently presented to this Court by LIPOF. Further, reliance upon the Government Employee's Insurance Company case ignores the fact that with respect to LIPOF and his vehicle, FP&L provided coverage and "protection" and as such, ceased to be a self-insurer.

Nevertheless, FP&L has maintained throughout this litigation and appeal that it is a self-insurer and is therefore, treated differently from an "insurer" under the insurance statutes and case law prior to and including <u>Government Employees Insurance Company</u>. Specifically, FP&L has argued that it has no duty to offer uninsured motorist benefits to LIPOF, as the Insurance Code does not obligate a "self-insurer" to provide such benefits. In support of its argument, FP&L has previously cited §627.733(3)(b), Florida

Statutes (1982), which provides that a self-insurer under the Florida No-Fault Law "shall have all of the obligations and rights of an insurer under ss. 627.730 - 627.7405." FP&L essentially argues that the statute does not deem a self-insurer to have all of the obligations and rights of an insurer under the uninsured motorist statute, §627.727, and therefore, FP&L would have no obligation to offer U.M. coverage to LIPOF.

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