P,p

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA.

CASE NO. 76,083

MICHAEL LIPOF,

Petitioner,

vs.

FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY,

Respondent.

SID J. WHITE

AUG 16/1990

MERK, SUPREME COUNTE

By

Deput Clerk

# RESPONDENT, FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY'S ANSWER BRIEF AND APPENDIX

PAUL R. REGENSDORF, of Fleming, O'Bryan & Fleming Attorneys for Respondent. Post Office Drawer 7028 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33338 (305) 764-3000 & 945-2686 FLORIDA BAR NO. 152395

#

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Plaintiff argues here, as it did in each of the lower courts, that FPL's Employee Vehicle Agreement in some way obligates it to provide uninsured motorist coverage under Florida Statute § 627.727 for the employees who utilize their vehicles in part on company business and who have executed an Employee Vehicle Agreement. Respectfully, the case and statutory law in Florida is contrary to that conclusion and no case supports the Plaintiff's contention.

The Florida Financial Responsibility Law provides four ways for an owner or operator to comply with the Act, but only one of them is by means of a motor vehicle liability policy issued by an insurance company authorized to do business in Florida. While FPL did arrange for Mr. LIPOF's compliance with this law (and with the no fault law), it did not do so by the issuance of such an insurance policy under Florida Statute § 324.031(1). The uninsured motorist statute, § 627.727, however only requires the provision of uninsured motorist protection by those insurers, doing business as such, which issue such motor vehicle liability insurance policies. Since FPL is not such an insurer and since the Employee Vehicle Agreement is not such a policy, the Plaintiff's argument fails at the outset.

Moreover, although FPL did provide certain protection and compliance through its self-insurance program, the \$500,000 excess indemnity protection which was secured by FPL was not

supplied by any policy of insurance issued by FPL, but was instead purchased by FPL, the cost of which was, by contract, shared equally between FPL and the employees.

While FPL's self-insurance program does in fact provide certain benefits to individuals other than FPL, no case or statute has been suggested to this Court that would in any way invalidate FPL's self-insurance program because of that fact. Since FPL's employees under this benefit program expose both themselves and FPL to potential risk, FPL is authorized to arrange for or secure protection for both risks in its self-insurance program and no case law or statute has been suggested to the contrary. The mere fact that FPL for some purposes establishes a self-insurance program does not, under a wealth of Florida cases, convert it into an insurer for all purposes and convert its contracts into motor vehicle liability insurance policies.

The decision of the Fourth District was eminently correct. Florida's statutory scheme simply does not impose upon entities such as FPL an obligation to provide uninsured motorist protection. If such protection is to be required, the requirement must come from the Legislature and not from the courts of the State of Florida.

- 6 -

#### **ARGUMENT**

AN EMPLOYER IS NOT OBLIGATED TO PROVIDE AN EMPLOYEE WITH THE OPPORTUNITY TO ACCEPT OR REJECT UNINSURED MOTORIST INSURANCE, WHERE THE EMPLOYER ARRANGES, THROUGH HIS EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT, FOR THE EMPLOYEE TO BE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE FLORIDA FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY LAW AND THE FLORIDA AUTOMOBILE REPARATIONS REFORM ACT AND SECURES OTHER INDEMNITY AND FIRST PARTY PROTECTION ON THE EMPLOYEE'S PERSONAL VEHICLE WHICH IS USED BY THE EMPLOYEE IN THE EMPLOYER'S BUSINESS.

#### INTRODUCTION TO ARGUMENT.

At the outset, several points are appropriate to be made. First of all, through the positions taken by Mr. LIPOF in the trial court and now before this Court, it is clear that he does not contend that any question of fact (material or otherwise) exists which would suggest, let alone require the reversal of this summary judgment. Rather, we are faced with a question of whether, under the provisions of this contract<sup>2</sup> -- the Employee Vehicle Agreement -- as construed in accordance with Florida Statutes, <sup>3</sup> FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY was obligated to

The argument portion of the certified question has been restated so as to comport with the Employee Vehicle Agreement in question. The precise means by which the Agreement was complied with is set forth in detail in the body of this brief.

Inasmuch as there has been no suggestion that any material question of fact exists in this cause, to the extent that the trial court's construction of the contract itself is involved, that construction given the contract by the trial court is entitled to great weight on appeal and should be reversed only if the trial court's determination of the legal significance of that contract is clearly erroneous. Elmore v. Enterprise Developers, Inc., 418 So.2d 1078, 1079 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). See also Rylander v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 302 So.2d 478 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974); Vistaco, Inc. v. Prestige Properties, Inc., 559 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Although the Plaintiff's Fourth District briefs left open the question of which statutes applied, he has now stated that citations will be made to the 1983 Florida Statutes. To assist the Court in that regard, 1983 copies of the statutes cited in this brief will be attached in the appendix to this brief. It is

"provide" or "arrange" for uninsured motorist protection as an employee benefit under that Employee Vehicle Agreement.

As acknowledged by Mr. LIPOF in the court below, FPL, the employer in this case, is an electric public utility and is not in the regular business of selling or dispensing insurance.

Next, as a review of the Petitioner's Initial Brief reveals, he has been unable to cite the Court to a single case which supports his proposition under similar facts, or even under broadly analogous facts. Since, as will be demonstrated, Florida Statutes very precisely define what circumstances require the issuance of uninsured motorist coverage and do not so require on our facts, and since there is an absence of any judicial construction (either in Florida or elsewhere) to that effect, the Petitioner's argument in this Court is without merit and jurisdiction should be rejected or the decision of the Fourth District affirmed.

#### II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND.

When an FPL employee has a job which requires the use of a motor vehicle, that employee advises the company of the intent to utilize a personal vehicle. Under those circumstances, he or she can obtain certain employee benefits pursuant to FPL's Employee Vehicle Agreement. (R-3, A-2). One benefit, although not utilized in this case, is that an employee can purchase a vehicle utilizing FPL's funds which are then repaid over time.

not believed that there are any material difference between the statutes in effect at the time the contract was signed and 1983.

Secondly, and of particular relevance to this case, FPL agrees that it will "arrange for compliance" with both Florida's Financial Responsibility Law (Fla. Stat. § 324.031, AA-2) and the Florida Automobile Reparations Reform Act (the No Fault Act) (Fla. Stat. §§ 627.730-7405).

Finally, FPL agrees that it will secure, for the benefit of the employee and for its own benefit, excess indemnity protection up to a single limit of \$500,000, the cost of which is shared between FPL and the employee.<sup>4</sup>

What the Employee Vehicle Agreement is not is a policy of motor vehicle liability insurance. There is no reference in the agreement to FPL being an insurer, to the employee being an insured, or to any legal status of insurance in any way. Similarly, with respect to the excess indemnity protection, there is no statement or suggestion that FPL will indemnify the employee from such loss up to \$500,000, but rather only that FPL will secure such protection for the employee and will bear half of the cost of that protection.

The agreement goes on to provide other responsibilities undertaken by the employer which are not the subject of the claim in this case. They include certain mileage rates given to the employee for use of the vehicle, and the provision of fire, theft, comprehensive and collision protection for the vehicle.

The Agreement also imposes certain obligations on the employee and then states that the employee "HEREBY REJECTS UNINSURED MOTORIST'S COVERAGE AND AUTHORIZES COMPANY TO CONVEY SUCH REJECTION IN EMPLOYEE'S BEHALF AS MAY BE REQUIRED."

No claim has been made or argument raised concerning any knowing or statutory rejection of such coverage. FPL's position has been and continues to be from the outset that it has no obligation to offer uninsured motorist protection under any circumstances.

When this employer-employee agreement is measured against the controlling Florida law with respect to uninsured motorist coverage, it is respectfully suggested to this Court that no obligation on the part of FPL exists in any way to provide, secure, or arrange for uninsured motorist protection for its employees.

# III. CONTROLLING LAW REGARDING UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE -- FLORIDA STATUTE § 627.727 (1983) AND RELEVANT SECTIONS OF THE FLORIDA INSURANCE CODE.

The historical basis for uninsured motorist coverage in Florida arises, if at all, from Florida Statute § 627.727(1) (1983). (AA-4,5). When read from the 1983 version in effect at the time of the accident, this statute says in essence that "no motor vehicle liability insurance policy" shall be delivered by an "insurer" unless coverage is contained therein for uninsured motorist protection. Section 627.727 then goes on and lists a variety of provisions which require that the "insurer" offer certain limits and provide certain notices and also allows the "named insured" to reject uninsured motorist coverage under certain circumstances which have varied from year to year under Florida Statutes. Id.

Starting then from the <u>only</u> source of required UM coverage in Florida law, the issue becomes whether the Employee Vehicle Agreement is a "motor vehicle liability insurance policy" and whether FPL is an "insurer" with statutory responsibilities under Florida Statute § 627.727. When a variety of provisions in the Insurance Code are reviewed, the answer comes back a

resounding no. First of all, the term "insurer" is not a generic term, but is instead defined and that definition (found in Florida Statute § 624.03, AA-3), is applicable to the uninsured motorist section. It provides:

"Insurer" defined -- "Insurer" includes every person engaged as indemnitor, surety, or contractor in the business of entering into contracts of insurance or of annuity.

See <u>Farley v. Gateway Insurance Co.</u>, 302 So.2d 177, 179 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974) (simply because an individual does not acquire no fault insurance, thereby assuming the "rights and obligations" of an insurer, does not bring one into the business of selling insurance and does not make him an insurer for all purposes).

Plaintiff has acknowledged in the court below that FPL is a utility and is not in the business of entering into contracts of insurance and thus, at the outset, the statutory obligation for certain entities to make uninsured motorist coverage available does not fall upon FPL. From this fundamental beginning, it requires no arcane resort to statutory construction to reach the conclusion, as did the trial court and the unanimous Fourth District, that a regulated public utility in the State of Florida has no obligation under the statute in question. That conclusion concerning the regulatory statutes becomes even clearer when the type of insuring agreement (a motor vehicle liability insurance policy) to which the uninsured motorist requirement does attach is understood.

- 11 -

Mr. LIPOF argues at Pages 9 and 10 of his brief that he would look to FPL to indemnify him if he injured another while driving his vehicle. Thus, he argues that FPL has agreed to indemnify him for "liability" exposure. The argument demonstrates a significant misunderstanding of the interrelationship between Florida Statute § 624.02 (1983) (AA-3) which defines "insurance" as including "a contract whereby one undertakes to indemnify another" and the Employee Vehicle Agreement which addresses the subject of indemnity protection.

First of all, notwithstanding what Mr. LIPF would like to have this Court believe his "expectations" were with respect to liability insurance protection, the Agreement by its terms is clear. FPL has not undertaken any obligation to indemnify Mr. LIPOF up to the \$500,000 single limit, but instead has agreed to "secure for the benefit of the Company and Employee" that protection and has further agreed (and obtained from the employee a corresponding agreement) to divide the cost of that excess indemnity protection on a 50/50 basis. Thus, by no construction of the Employee Vehicle Agreement can it be argued that FPL has agreed to indemnify its employees for damages they cause in a motor vehicle accident (nor for the damages they suffer in accidents with uninsured motorists).

A more detailed answer to the Plaintiff's argument, however, again requires reference to the controlling statute, Florida Statute § 627.727. That section does not require that the uninsured motorist obligation attach to any kind of "insurance," but instead provides that it attaches only to motor

<u>vehicle liability policies</u>. That term is precisely defined in Florida's Financial Responsibility Law, § 324.021(8) as being a policy which is furnished as proof of financial responsibility and "issued by any insurance company authorized to do business in this state." (AA-1).

Thus, the Legislature, in two different ways -- by imposing uninsured motorist obligations only upon "insurers" and by requiring uninsured motorist coverage only in "motor vehicle liability policies" (which have to be issued by insurance company licensed to do business in the State) -- has carefully and precisely defined and limited those circumstances in which the obligation to provide uninsured motorist coverage comes into play. The Plaintiff's claim against FPL fails on both counts.

FPL agrees with LIPOF that the background for much of this concern is the basic financial responsibility statute,
Florida Statute § 324.031 (1983) (AA-2) which provided at the time of this accident that operators or owners in the State of Florida had four different ways in which they could establish their financial responsibility. One was through the obtaining of motor vehicle liability policy as defined in § 324.021(8) and discussed above. The other three means of providing security are through the use of a bond, through cash or other security, or through a self-insurance program.

Mr. LIPOF on Page 11 and following of his brief goes through an extensive discussion of these various alternatives, and focuses a substantial effort on the meaning of the phrase "self-insurance." As will be demonstrated, that inquiry and

analysis does not in any way advance the Plaintiff's argument that there is in some way a statutory obligation for FPL to provide uninsured motorist protection through its Employee Vehicle Agreement.

It is important to note that the issue of uninsured motorist coverage in Florida has been constantly addressed by the Florida Legislature which has revisited and rewritten the requirements of Florida Statute § 627.727 on an almost annual basis in the years both before and after the time period relevant to this lawsuit. In none of those modifications, either prior to the entering into of this contract or since, has the Legislature ever seen fit to extend the provisions and requirements for uninsured motorist protection to any form or method of demonstrating financial responsibility except the provision of the motor vehicle liability policy from an insurer licensed to do business as an insurance company in the State of Florida. again, it requires no abstruse reference to the statutory rules of construction to establish that a Legislature's consistent adherence to the language of a statute, with carefully defined terms, precludes its expansion through judicial modification of those statutorily defined terms. It was just this realization which caused the court below to recognize that a change in the uninsured motorist law in Florida should come, if at all, from the halls of the Legislature, as opposed to the courtroom of the judicial branch.

The case law with respect to the obligation imposed by § 627.727 mirrors this statutory pattern. Numerous cases have emphasized the particular focus of this statute as being addressed to those companies which are engaged in the day-to-day business of selling insurance. See, e.g. Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971). Mr. LIPOF has advanced absolutely no statute or case law which has equated (or even suggested the possible equation of) a self-insurance program (or a bond or cash) with a motor vehicle liability insurance policy for the purposes of § 627.727. The reason for the absence of any such citation is that there is no such case law, nor will there be any unless and until the Legislature chooses to amend its comprehensive insurance code.

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